# **Supreme Court Copy**

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE	)	Supreme Court
OF CALIFORNIA,	)	No. S180567 SUPREME COURT
Plaintiff and Respondent,	)	FILED
•	)	Court of Appeal
v.	)	No. G040808 AUG 30 201 8.25(b)
•	)	AUG 30 201 (8.25(b)
DANNY LEE SKILES,	)	Superior Court
Defendant and Appellant.	)	Case No. 08HF0756 derick K. Ohlrich Clerk
	)	Deputy

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF ORANGE COUNTY Honorable Dan McNerney, Judge

AFTER THE PARTIALLY PUBLISHED OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE, AFFIRMING THE JUDGMENT AS MODIFIED

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### **QUESTION PRESENTED**

Are faxed copies of certified court records admissible to establish that a prior conviction qualifies as a serious or violent felony for purposes of the three strikes law?

#### STATEMENT OF APPEALABILITY

This appeal is from a final judgment following a trial and is authorized by Penal Code section 1237, subdivision (a).

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 19, 2008, appellant Danny Lee Skiles ("Mr. Skiles") was charged by information filed in Orange County Superior Court with the following: count 1, first degree residential burglary (Pen. Code, §§ 459, 460, subd. (a)); and count 2, receiving stolen property (Pen. Code, § 496, subd. (a)). (C.T. pp. 105-108.) The information further alleged that Mr. Skiles had suffered a serious felony conviction and strike prior within the meaning of the three strikes law, Penal Code sections 667, subdivisions (d) and (e)(1) and 1170.12, subdivisions (b) and (c)(1). (C.T. pp. 106-107.)<sup>1</sup> On July 17, 2008, a jury found Mr. Skiles guilty of both counts.

(C.T. pp. 167-168; 3 R.T. pp. 267-269.) In a bifurcated proceeding, the

that enhancement allegation at the prosecution's request. (3 R.T. p. 272.)

The information also alleged that Mr. Skiles committed the felony offenses while he was released from custody on bail pending final judgment on an earlier felony offense, within the meaning of Penal Code section 12022.1, subdivision (b). (C.T. p. 106.) The trial court dismissed

trial court held a two-day bench trial, on July 17, 2008, and August 1, 2008, and found true the prior conviction allegation. (3 R.T. pp. 272-297.)

On August 1, 2008, the trial court sentenced Mr. Skiles to the low term of two years for the burglary conviction (count 1), doubled as a result of the strike prior, and five years added as a result of the prior serious felony, for a total term of nine years in state prison. (3 R.T. pp. 300-302.) The sentence for receiving stolen property (count 2) was stayed.<sup>2</sup>

On August 12, 2008, Mr. Skiles filed a notice of appeal. (C.T. pp. 186-187.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment as modified in a partially published opinion dated January 11, 2010. The Court of Appeal modified its opinion, with no change in the judgment, with an order dated January 21, 2010. On February 26, 2010, Mr. Skiles filed a petition for review. On April 28, 2010, this Court granted the petition.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS<sup>3</sup>

Mr. Skiles was convicted of residential burglary and receiving stolen property in connection with the theft of jewelry and other items from a room at the Motor Inn in Costa Mesa, California. (1 R.T. pp. 26-29, 32-37. 53-61, 68-70, 76-77, 105, 111-144, 152.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court sentenced Mr. Skiles to two years on count 2, to run concurrent with count 1. (3 R.T. p. 300.) The Court of Appeal, recognizing that the sentence on count 2 should have been stayed, modified the judgment to correct the trial court's error. (C.O.A. Opinion pp. 3, 8.)

<sup>3</sup> Stated herein are only those facts relevant to the issue on review.

The evidence for the prior conviction allegation under the three strikes law consisted of documents which were purported to be certified copies of court records from the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Alabama, relating to <a href="State v. Danny Lee Skiles">State v. Danny Lee Skiles</a>, Case No. CC-95-133 (Exhibit Nos. 16-18), as well as a LexisNexis printout of the Code of Alabama, § 13A-6-3, Manslaughter (Exhibit No. 19). (C.T. pp. 191-209.) A records custodian did not testify. (3 R.T. pp. 272-297.)

Exhibit 18 did not bear an original certification. Rather, Exhibit 18 was a facsimile or photographic copy of what purported to be a certified copy of one page of the above-referenced Alabama indictment. (C.T. pp. 206-207; 3 R.T. pp. 278, 287, 289.)

#### **ARGUMENT**

THE TRIAL COURT PREJUDICIALLY ERRED IN FINDING THE SENTENCING ENHANCEMENT ALLEGATION TRUE BECAUSE, WHEN PURPORTED COPIES OF OFFICIAL RECORDS ARE ADMITTED AT A CRIMINAL TRIAL WITHOUT THE TESTIMONY OF A RECORDS CUSTODIAN, EVIDENCE CODE SECTION 1530 AND THE CONFRONTATION CLAUSE REQUIRE THAT AN ORIGINAL CERTIFICATION BE AFFIXED TO THE PRECISE COPIES THAT THE CUSTODIAN IS CERTIFYING AS GENUINE, ACCURATE, AND COMPLETE.

#### A. Introduction

Evidence Code section 1530 provides that a purported copy of an official record is prima facie evidence of the existence and content of the record provided that the copy is certified as a correct copy. Official records admitted under Section 1530 can significantly affect trial results. Here, the

trial court found true a prior conviction allegation under the three strikes law on the basis of a faxed or photographic copy of what purported to be a certified court record. Based on that finding, a low-term sentence of two years became a nine-year deprivation of liberty. (See Argument, *post*, section B.)

Appellate review in this case is de novo because the issue presented is one of statutory and constitutional construction. (See Argument, *post*, section C.)

The certification requirement of Section 1530 is not a minor technicality. Certification resolves important evidentiary and constitutional problems, including those of secondary evidence, authentication, hearsay, and the right to confrontation. (See Argument, *post*, section D.)

The plain language of Evidence Code section 1530 requires an original certification. To "certify" means to compare the copy with the original and to attest that the copy is genuine, accurate, and complete. By definition, a records custodian cannot certify a copy the custodian did not produce and has never seen. Thus, a facsimile or photographic copy of a certified copy is not admissible under Section 1530. (See Argument, *post*, section E.)

Furthermore, a non-original certification cannot be admitted as secondary evidence under the Secondary Evidence Rule (Evidence Code section 1521), for a number of reasons. Evidence Code section 1530, as a

specific provision relating to the admission of public records, prevails over the more general Secondary Evidence Rule. Accordingly, the Secondary Evidence Rule cannot be used to circumvent Section 1530's requirement of an original certification. In addition, a certification is not a "writing" for purposes of the Secondary Evidence Rule; and a copied certification does not provide the authentication required under Evidence Code sections 1400 and 1401. (See Argument, *post*, section F.)

A copied certification is inadmissible even if the defendant can raise no apparent issues of authenticity or accuracy. To shift the burden of proof from the proponent to the opponent of the evidence is unfair because modern technology makes it difficult to uncover potential errors in copies. A per se rule requiring an original certification would not be unduly burdensome. In view of the important interests at stake and the possibility for error, the supreme courts of at least four other states have established such a rule. (See Argument, *post*, section G.)

A records custodian's certification is testimonial hearsay subject to Confrontation Clause scrutiny. While the United States Supreme Court has suggested (though not decided) that a records custodian need not appear to testify in most cases, the constitutional status of the certification suggests that, at the very least, the certification should be original. (See Argument, *post*, section H.)

Mr. Skiles suffered prejudice from the trial court's error because if the record in question had been excluded, the prior conviction allegation would not have been proven. The decision of the Court of Appeal affirming the judgment of the Superior Court must be reversed. (See Argument, *post*, section I.)

#### B. Background Information

The disputed piece of evidence in this appeal is Exhibit 18. The exhibit consists of a facsimile or photographic copy of what purports to be a certified copy of one page of the indictment in State of Alabama v. Danny Lee Skiles, Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Case No. CC-95-133. (C.T. pp. 206-207.)

Immediately following the jury's verdict on July 17, 2008, the trial court held a bench trial on the prior conviction allegation. (3 R.T. p. 272.) The prosecutor introduced, without objection, Exhibits 16 and 17. (3 R.T. pp. 272-273.) These were certified copies of court records from Alabama. (C.T. pp. 191-205.) According to the records, in 1995, at the age of 18, Mr. Skiles pled guilty to manslaughter, count 1 of an indictment. (C.T. pp. 193-195.)

The list of felonies that qualify as "serious" for purposes of the three strikes law is set forth in Penal Code section 1192.7, subdivision (c). (See Pen. Code, § 667, subd. (d)(2).) In the current case, the trial court ruled that there was only one viable way to show that Mr. Skiles's Alabama

manslaughter conviction was "serious": the prosecution had to prove that Mr. Skiles had personally inflicted great bodily injury on a person other than an accomplice within the meaning of Penal Code section 1192.7, subdivision (c)(8).<sup>4</sup> (3 R.T. pp. 275-277, 288.) The records in Exhibit 16 and 17, however, contained no factual basis for the plea, and also omitted the page of the indictment relating to count 1. (C.T. pp. 191-205; 3 R.T. pp. 274-277.) The trial court gave the prosecutor time to obtain additional evidence. (3 R.T. p. 277.)

That same day, after the lunch break, the prosecutor introduced Exhibit 18. (3 R.T. pp. 278-279.) This was a copy of what purported to be a certified copy of the page of the indictment relating to counts 1 and 2. (C.T. pp. 206-207.) Count 1 alleged that Mr. Skiles had recklessly caused the death of another by running a red light, thereby causing his motor vehicle to strike another motor vehicle. (C.T. p. 207.)

The trial court, the prosecutor, and defense counsel all agreed that Exhibit 18 did not bear an original certification. The prosecutor referred to Exhibit 18 as "a copy of a certified copy." (3 R.T. p. 278.) Defense counsel objected to Exhibit 18 on "foundational" grounds "since it is a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> This was so because the list of "serious" felonies includes voluntary manslaughter, but not involuntary manslaughter, and Mr. Skiles's Alabama manslaughter conviction was more akin to the involuntary form of that offense. (See Pen. Code, § 1192.7, subd. (c)(1); 3 R.T. pp. 277, 283-285.)

photocopy." (3 R.T. pp. 287, 289.) The trial court said, "I agree it is a photocopy," but overruled the objection. (3 R.T. pp. 287, 289.)

The record implies that the Exhibit 18 "photocopy" resulted from an electronic transmittal from Alabama to the Orange County prosecutor, by facsimile or perhaps via the emailing of a scanned document. (See 3 R.T. p. 278.) After the prosecutor failed to prove the prior conviction allegation using Exhibits 16 and 17, the court took a recess and then reconvened later that same day. (3 R.T. pp. 276-277.) The prosecutor introduced Exhibit 18 by stating: "Over the break, I contacted the state of Alabama and the clerk's office. I obtained a certified – I have a copy of a certified copy which includes count 1 and count 2 of the indictment in – which we have only count 2 of in People's Exhibit 16." (3 R.T. p. 278.)

The certification stamp on Exhibits 16, 17, and 18 reads as follows:

#### CERTIFIED TRUE COPY

STATE OF ALABAMA
LAUDERDALE COUNTY
I certify that the above is a true and correct copy of the original on file in this office.
SEAL

\_\_[/s/] MISSY HOMAN HIBBETT, CLERK

(C.T. pp. 194, 196, 197, 199, 207.) On the signature line is what appears to be a stamped signature of "Missy Homan Hibbett," though it is unclear if the signature is part of the overall certification stamp, or if the signature is on a separate stamp. (See C.T. pp. 194, 196, 197, 199, 207.) On Exhibit

18, but not on the other exhibits, appear the initials "DM" under the stamped signature. (C.T. p. 207.) The "DM" appears to have been added by hand. (See C.T. p. 207.)

On August 1, 2008, the trial court ruled that the facts alleged in count 1 of the indictment (Exhibit 18), together with other court records showing that Mr. Skiles pled guilty to count 1 (Exhibits 16 and 17), were sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Mr. Skiles had suffered a serious felony for purposes of the three strikes law, pursuant to Penal Code section 1192.7, subdivision (c)(8). (3 R.T. pp. 295-297.) As a result, Mr. Skiles's low term sentence of two years for burglary was doubled, and five years were also added, for a total term of nine years in state prison. (3 R.T. pp. 300-302.)

#### C. Standard of Review

The issue presented is a question of statutory and constitutional construction: whether a copy of a public record is properly certified within the meaning of the California Evidence Code if the certification is itself a copy, and whether the constitutional right to confrontation is violated when a non-original certification is admitted against a criminal defendant.

Appellate review of a pure question of law is de novo. (*People ex rel. Locyker v. Shamrock Foods Co.* (2000) 24 Cal.4th 415, 432.)

- D. Certification Under Evidence Code Section 1530
  Addresses Multiple Evidentiary and Constitutional Issues,
  Including Secondary Evidence, Authentication, Hearsay,
  And the Right to Confrontation.
  - A Prior Conviction May Be Proven
     With Certified Court Records Under
     Evidence Code Sections 1530 and 1531.

Evidence Code section 1530 provides that "[a] purported copy of a writing in the custody of a public entity, or of an entry in such a writing, is prima facie evidence of the existence and content of such writing or entry" provided that two safeguards are met. (Evid. Code, § 1530, subd. (a).)<sup>5</sup> To ensure the trustworthiness of the "purported copy," the rule insists that "[t]he copy purports to be published by the authority of the public entity, and that "the copy is attested or certified as a correct copy of the writing or entry by a public employee, or a deputy of a public employee, having the legal custody of the writing." (*Ibid.*)

Evidence Code section 1531 further requires that "[f]or the purpose of evidence, whenever a copy of a writing is attested or certified, the attestation or certificate must state in substance that the copy is a correct copy of the original, or of a specified part thereof, as the case may be."

As was the case here, certified copies of official records are commonly the sole evidence presented to prove a prior conviction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> While the trial court did not mention Evidence Code section 1530, the Court of Appeal assumed that Exhibit 18 was admitted under that section. (C.O.A. Order Modifying Opinion p. 1; 3 R.T. pp. 287, 289.)

allegation under the three strikes law. (See, e.g., *People v. Delgado* (2008) 43 Cal.4th 1059, 1065-1066.) The truth of the enhancement allegation must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Ibid.*) Thus, certification plays an important role in ensuring that a defendant who faces a sentencing enhancement receives a fair trial.

2. Certification Is a Vital Evidentiary
Device That Resolves Problems of
Secondary Evidence, Authentication, and Hearsay.

Section 1530 resolves three evidentiary problems. (See Cal. L. Revision Comm'n com. to Evid. Code, § 1530, 1965 amend.) These are: (1) the admissibility of duplicates under the Best Evidence Rule; (2) the need for authentication of both the original document and the copy under Evidence Code section 1400 et seq.; and (3) the hearsay rule, Evidence Code section 1200, in that a records custodian's signed certification is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter, namely that the copies are true and complete copies of original documents. (See *ibid.*; see also *In re Shannon C.* (1986) 179 Cal.App.3d 334, 341-342 [describing Section 1530 as the codification of "an exception" (for public records) to the Best Evidence Rule].)<sup>6</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Best Evidence Rule (the former Evidence Code section 1500) has been replaced with the Secondary Evidence Rule (Evidence Code section 1521). (See Stats 1998, ch. 100, § 2 (SB 177) [repealing Evidence Code, §§ 1500-1511 and adding §§ 1520-1523].) Evidence Code section 1530, which predates the Secondary Evidence Rule, remained unchanged. (*Ibid.*; see Argument, *post*, section F.1.)

Certification is the traditional hallmark of authenticity for copies of public records. (See *In re Kirk* (1999) 74 Cal.App.4th 1066, 1073-1076; *In re Shannon C.*, *supra*, 179 Cal.App.3d at pp. 341-343.) If the copies are not properly certified, they will not be admitted, absent testimony of a qualified records custodian. (See *People v. Martinez* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 106, 112, 120-121; *People v. Matthews* (1991) 229 Cal.App.3d 930, 936-941.)

3. Certification Also Helps Assure the Reliability of the Hearsay Statements Contained in the Underlying Public Records.

A separate issue not directly addressed by Evidence Code section 1530 is the hearsay problem of using court records to prove the truth of the matter stated therein, in this case, that the defendant has been convicted of a "serious" felony under the three strikes law. (See *In re Shannon C., supra*, 179 Cal.App.3d at p. 342.) Evidence Code section 1280, in combination with the device of judicial notice, will generally resolve this hearsay issue. (See *id.* at pp. 341-343; *People v. Abelson* (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d Supp. 16, 19-20.)

However, the certification requirement of Evidence Code section 1530 is also implicated, because the safeguard of certification helps to ensure the trustworthiness of the matters asserted in the content of the court records. (See *In re Kirk*, *supra*, 74 Cal.App.4th at p. 1075.) Indeed, if an "official record of conviction" is used to prove a prior conviction,

certification under Evidence Code section 1530, subdivision (a), may in itself satisfy the requirements of Evidence Code section 1280. (See Evid. Code, § 452.5, subd. (b).)

4. Certification Is Testimonial Hearsay Subject to Confrontation Clause Scrutiny.

Finally, "certification operates to protect the rights to confrontation and cross-examination possessed by individuals facing a deprivation of liberty . . . ." (*In re Kirk*, *supra*, 74 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1075-1076; see also *Matthews*, *supra*, 229 Cal.App.3d at pp. 936-941.) The United States Supreme Court has recently suggested that a records custodian's certification – as a solemn out-of-court declaration – is testimonial hearsay protected by the Sixth Amendment. (See *Melendez-Diaz v. Mass.* (June 25, 2009) 129 S. Ct. 2527, 2538-2539, 2552-2553 [-- U.S. --; 174 L. Ed. 2d 314]; Argument, *post*, section H.)

In sum, certification is not a minor technicality. Without proper certification, copies of public records lack adequate authentication, violate the Secondary Evidence Rule and the hearsay rule, and impermissibly impinge the constitutional right to confrontation. (See Evid. Code, § 1530; *Melendez-Diaz*, *supra*, 129 S. Ct. at pp. 2538-2539, 2552-2553; *In re Kirk*, *supra*, 74 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1075-1076.)

### E. The Plain Language of Evidence Code Section 1530 Requires an Original Certification.

The Evidence Code clearly allows copies of public records to be admitted without the testimony of a records custodian provided that the copies are certified or attested as correct copies. (See Evid. Code, § 1530.) The Evidence Code, however, explains the certification process only indirectly, by mandating that "the attestation or certificate must state in substance that the copy is a correct copy of the original." (See Evid. Code, § 1531.) The Evidence Code does not define "certified" or "certification." (See Evid. Code, §§ 1530, 1531; see also Evid. Code, Div. 2 ["Words and Phrases Defined"].) Where a statute does not specifically define a term, the common meaning applies. (William Lyon Co. v. Franchise Tax Bd. (1992) 4 Cal.App.4th 267, 276.) A dictionary may provide the appropriate common meaning. (Ibid.; see Melendez-Diaz, supra, 129 S. Ct. at p. 2532 [using Black's Law Dictionary to define the term "affidavit"].)

Black's Law Dictionary, like Evidence Code section 1530, uses "certified copy" and "attested copy" interchangeably. (See Cal. L. Revision Comm'n com. to Evid. Code, § 1530, 1965 amend.; Black's Law Dictionary 127-128, 228 (6th ed. 1990). <sup>7</sup> Black's Law Dictionary provides

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> "Certify" means "to authenticate or vouch for a thing in writing; to attest as being true or as represented." (Black's Law Dictionary, *supra*, at p. 228). "Certified copy" means "a copy of a document or record, signed and certified as a true copy by the officer to whose custody the original is entrusted." (*Id.* at p. 228.) "Attest" in its technical sense means "a

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