Supreme Court Copy

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

Case No. S180567

v.

DANNY LEE SKILES,

Defendant and Appellant.

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three, Case No. G040808 Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 08HF0799 Daniel Barret Mc Nearney, Judge

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SUPREME COURT **FILED**

OCT 27 2010

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

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

ARGUMENT

I. A COPY OF A CERTIFIED COPY IS ADMISSIBLE UNDER EVIDENCE CODE SECTION 1530 AS AN ORIGINAL COPY OF AN OFFICIAL DOCUMENT; IT IS ALSO ADMISSIBLE UNDER EVIDENCE CODE SECTION 1521 WHEN THERE IS NO MATERIAL DISPUTE AS TO THE RELIABILITY OR AUTHENTICITY OF THE DOCUMENT

This case involves questions of statutory interpretation of the California Evidence Code. The legislative intent behind these provisions is clear: it is to ensure that our evidentiary rules be construed as broadly as possible to adapt to changing technology and apply to a wide range of factual scenarios while also protecting the reliability of evidence. Here, there was a certified copy of the court record, so the requirements for

permitting copies of writings in official custody (sections 1453, 1530, and 1531) were complied with. The certified copy of the court record was a document that was statutorily admissible under section 1530. The copy admitted as Exhibit 18 was an original certified copy admissible under section 1530; alternatively, Exhibit 18 was a duplicate of the original certified copy admissible under section 1521 so long as it did not fall under either of the exclusions under that section. Because there was no substantive challenge to the authenticity, accuracy, or fairness to Exhibit 18, the trial court's admission of the evidence reflected the Legislature's desire to prevent rigid and technical rules from excluding relevant and reliable secondary evidence.

A. Principles of Statutory Construction

The principles of statutory construction are well established. As this Court has observed, "The fundamental purpose of statutory construction is to ascertain the intent of the lawmakers so as to effectuate the purpose of the law." (People v. Pieters (1991) 52 Cal.3d 894, 898.) In approaching the task, a court "must first look at the plain and common sense meaning of the statute because it is generally the most reliable indicator of legislative intent and purpose." (People v. Cochran (2002) 28 Cal.4th 396, 400.) If there is "no ambiguity or uncertainty in the language, the Legislature is presumed to have meant what it said," and it is not necessary "to resort to legislative history to determine the statute's true meaning." (Id. at pp. 400-401.) However, "[t]he intent prevails over the letter, and the letter will, if possible, be so read as to conform to the spirit of the act." (People v. Pieters, supra, 52 Cal.3d at p. 899.) Courts do not construe statutes in isolation, but rather "read every statute with reference to the entire scheme of law of which it is part so that the whole may be harmonized and retain effectiveness.' [Citation.]" (*Ibid.*) Namely, the words must be considered

""in context, keeping in mind the nature and obvious purpose of the statute.
..." [Citation.]" (*People v. Murphy* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 136, 142.)

B. History of California's Former Best Evidence Rule and Current Secondary Evidence Rule

The best evidence rule was originally developed in the eighteenth century, at a time when manual copying was the only means of reproducing documents, but the rule began to fall out of favor with the advent of broad pretrial discovery rules and technological developments "such as the dramatic rise in the use of facsimile transmission and electronic communications," as well as photocopies. (*Best Evidence Rule* (Nov. 1996) 26 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. (1996) pp. 369, 373, 378.) The best evidence rule was replaced in California by the secondary evidence rule, which was intended to be a simpler and more efficient doctrine, and to shift the presumption of secondary evidence to prove the content of a writing from inadmissible to being generally admissible. (*Id.* at p. 377.)

1. Former Best Evidence Rule

Previously, the best evidence rule provided that "no evidence other than the original of a writing is admissible to prove the content of a writing." (Former § 1500, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2, p. 2269 and repealed by Stats. 1998, ch. 100.) The purpose of the rule was "'to minimize the possibilities of misinterpretation of writings by requiring the production of the original writings themselves, if available." (*People v. Panah* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 395, 475.)

When the California Law Revision Commission developed the Evidence Code in the 1960's, there were still persuasive justifications for the rule and it was codified in California as Evidence Code section 1500 and in the Federal Rules of Evidence as Rule 1002. However, when the best evidence rule was enacted, it included a number of statutory exceptions for certain types of secondary evidence, including the following:

- 1. Secondary evidence of writings that have been lost or destroyed without fraudulent intent of the proponent of the evidence. (Former §§ 1501, 1505, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 2. Secondary evidence of unavailable writings. (Former §§ 1502, 1505, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 3. Secondary evidence of writings an opponent has but fails to produce as requested. (Former §§ 1503, 1505, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 4. Secondary evidence of collateral writings that would be inexpedient to produce. (Former §§ 1504, 1505, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 5. Secondary evidence of writings in the custody of a public entity. (Former §§ 1506, 1508, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 6. Secondary evidence of writings recorded in public records, if the record or an attested or certified copy is made evidence of the writing by statute. (Former §§ 1507, 1508, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 7. Secondary evidence of voluminous writings. (Former § 1509, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)
- 8. Copies of writings that were produced at the hearing and made available to the other side. (Former § 1510, added by Stats. 1965, ch. 299, § 2.)

In 1983, another exception was adopted into law for printed representations of computer information and computer programs. (Former § 1500.5, added by Stats. 1983, ch. 933, § 1; see § 1552.) The increasing number of such exceptions led to rigid and unwieldy applications of a best evidence rule swallowed by exceptions, which produced "results that not only waste[d] precious judicial time but that are clearly unjust." (*Best Evidence Rule, supra*, 26 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. at p. 385.)

In 1985, the California Legislature greatly relaxed the best evidence rule by enacting section 1511, which brought California into line with the Federal Rules of Evidence³ on the admissibility of duplicates. (Former § 1511, added by Stats. 1985, ch. 100, § 2; 2 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (3d ed. 1986) § 929, pp. 888-889.) Former section 1511 provided that "[a] duplicate is admissible to the same extent as an original unless (a) a genuine question is raised as to the authenticity of the original or (b) in the circumstances it would be unfair to admit the duplicate in lieu of the original." (Osswald v. Anderson (1996) 49 Cal. App. 4th 812, 819.) This change was advocated by the California Law Revision Commission as early as 1975, because "[t]he development of accurate methods of copying documents and writings and the commonplace use of methods of reproduction which produce copies identical to the original have resulted in a reexamination by the courts and evidence authorities of the need for the production of original writings as required by the "best evidence rule."" (People v. Garcia (1988) 201 Cal.App.3d 324, 328.)

Since the time when the best evidence rule was enacted in 1965, the breadth and use of pretrial discovery expanded, and "technological developments such as the dramatic rise in use of faxes and electronic communications pose[d] new complications" in applying the best evidence rule and its exceptions. (*Best Evidence Rule, supra,* 26 Cal. Law Revision

³ Enacted in 1974, Federal Rule of Evidence 1003 states: "A duplicate is admissible to the same extent as an original unless (1) a genuine question is raised as to the authenticity of the original or (2) in the circumstances it would be unfair to admit the duplicate in lieu of the original." Under Federal Rule of Evidence 1003, the burden is on the opponent to raise a genuine issue as to authenticity of the original or to show that under the circumstances it would be unfair to use the duplicate in lieu of the original. (*People v. Garcia, supra*, 201 Cal.App.3d at p. 329; *United States v. Morgan* (9th Cir. 1977) 555 F.2d 238, 243.)

Com. Rep. at p. 373.) As recognized by the California Legislature, "the rationale for the [best evidence rule] no longer withstands scrutiny. A simpler doctrine, making secondary evidence other than oral testimony generally admissible to prove the content of a writing, provides sufficient protection" against misinterpretation of writings, is more efficient and just, and easier to apply. (*Ibid.*)

Thus, repeal of the best evidence rule was intended to recognize technological advances, avoid difficulties in interpretation, eliminate traps for unwary litigants, and reduce injustice and waste of scarce judicial resources.

2. Secondary Evidence Rule

The secondary evidence rule merely simplified and consolidated the exceptions to the best evidence rule that already existed, including former section 1511. (*Best Evidence Rule, supra*, 26 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. at pp. 373, 377-378, 388.) The California Legislature determined that the new secondary evidence rule and the normal motivation of parties to present convincing evidence are sufficient protections against the use of unreliable secondary evidence. (*Id.* at pp. 389-390.) Section 1521, subdivision (a), provides that "[t]he content of a writing may be proved by otherwise admissible secondary evidence," except when "[a] genuine dispute exists concerning material terms of the writing and justice requires the exclusion" or when "[a]dmission of the secondary evidence would be unfair."

The California Legislature intended to make secondary evidence generally admissible to prove the content of a writing, to release courts from the rigid constraints of the technical best evidence rule and its exceptions, and give trial courts broad discretion in determining whether to admit secondary evidence. (*Best Evidence Rule, supra*, 26 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. at pp. 385-388.) In determining whether to admit

secondary evidence under section 1521, a trial court may consider a broad range of factors, such as:

(1) whether the proponent attempts to use the writing in a manner that could not reasonably have been anticipated, (2) whether the original was suppressed in discovery, (3) whether discovery conducted in a reasonably diligent (as opposed to exhaustive) manner failed to result in production of the original, (4) whether there are dramatic differences between the original and the secondary evidence (e.g., the original but not the secondary evidence is in color and the colors provide significant clues to interpretation), (5) whether the original is unavailable and, if so, why, and (6) whether the writing is central to the case or collateral.

(Cal. Law Revision Com. com., 29B Pt. 4 West's Ann. Evid. Code (2009 supp.) foll. § 1521, p. 127.)

Additionally, because discovery in criminal matters is narrower than in civil matters, section 1522 additionally requires secondary evidence be excluded "if the trial court determines that the original is in the proponent's possession, custody, or control, and the proponent has not made the original reasonably available for inspection at or before trial." However, section 1522 does not apply to a "duplicate as defined by Section 260," or to a "copy of a writing that is recorded in the public records, if the record or a certified copy of it is made evidence of the writing by statute." (§ 1522, subds. (a)(1) & (a)(4).)

As the California Legislature has repeatedly demonstrated during the past half century, the Evidence Code was drafted and amended as broadly as possible so that changing technology would not render it obsolete. (See *Recommendation Proposing an Evidence Code* (1965) 7 Cal. Law Revision Com. Rep. p. 34 ["the Evidence Code is deliberately framed to permit the courts to work out particular problems or to extend declared principles into new areas of law"].) The secondary evidence rule was intended to create a

simplified doctrine of admissibility, and to grant trial courts broad discretion to apply the rule as efficiently and uniformly as possible.

C. The Copy of Appellant's Alabama Indictment Was Properly Certified Under Sections 1530 and 1531

A purported copy of a writing in the custody of a public entity is prima facie evidence of the existence and content of the writing if: (1) the office in which the writing is kept is in the United States; and (2) the copy is attested or certified as a correct copy of the writing or entry by a public employee having legal custody of the writing. (§ 1530, subd. (a)(2).)

Here, Exhibit 18 appears to be a copy made from a document that the Alabama court clerk apparently stamped and signed, stating, "I certify that the above is a true and correct copy of the original on file in this office," comporting with section 1531. (CT 207; § 1531 ["certificate must state in substance that the copy is a correct copy of the original"].) The certificate is signed by a deputy court clerk, Missy Homan Hibbett, which comports with section 1453. (§ 1453 [a signature is presumed genuine if it purports to be the signature, affixed in the official capacity of a public employee].) Thus, it appears the document from which Exhibit 18 was copied would have been admissible under section 1530.

Appellant concedes that the original copy of his Alabama indictment, certified by the Alabama court clerk, would have been admissible under section 1530. (AOBM 15-16.) His objection is solely that a photocopy of that copy was not admissible.

D. The Copy of the Certified Copy of Appellant's Alabama Indictment Qualified as An "Original" Document, and Was Thus Admissible Under Section 1530

Exhibit 18 was admissible as an "original" certified copy under section 255, and thus admissible under section 1530. A document that is a "copy" in the colloquial sense of the word may qualify as an "original"

document legally. An "original" of a writing is defined as "the writing itself or any counterpart intended to have the same effect by a person executing or issuing it." (§ 255, emphasis added.) Nothing in section 1530 requires that the certification of an official document be "original" in the colloquial sense of the word. Exhibit 18 qualifies as a section 255 "counterpart," and thus meets the requirements of section 1530.

The record shows that the Alabama court clerk sent a counterpart intended to have the same effect as the original writing. The clerk was sending via either fax or internet a certified copy of a document that she had the authority to authenticate and over which she, as a public official, had dominion. The clerk intended for the copy to be received and to have the same effect as a certified copy, and thus, as the original indictment.

While there are no California cases on point, states with more restrictive evidentiary rules than California's secondary evidence rule have come to the same conclusion. In *State v. Smith* (Wash.Ct.App. 1992) 66 Wash.App. 825, 832 P.2d 1366, a fax of a certified driving record was admitted at a criminal trial for the offense of driving with a suspended license. In response to a challenge to the admissibility of this fax, the court found:

An "original" of a writing or recording is the writing or recording itself or any counterpart intended to have the same effect by a person executing or issuing it. Since the fax of the seal exactly resembles the original seal and since the Department of Licensing intended the fax to be a certified copy of the driving record, it qualifies as an original document. Admission of the fax is authorized by the rules of evidence and is in keeping with the spirit of statutes . . . which aim to keep current with modern technology.

(Id. 66 Wash.App. at p. 828-829; see also Eglund v. State (Tex.Ct.App. 1995) 907 S.W.2d 937, 939-940 (conc. opn. of Cohen, J.).)

Thus, the copy of the Alabama indictment was an "original" certified copy under section 255, and was properly admitted by the trial court as self-authenticated under section 1530.

E. The Copy of a Certified Copy of Appellant's Alabama Indictment Was a "Duplicate" of the Original Certified Copy of an Official Court Record Thus Admissible Under Section 1521

Alternatively, regardless of whether the scanned copy constitutes an original for the purposes of section 255, Exhibit 18 was admissible under the secondary evidence rule as a duplicate of the original certified copy of a court document.

1. Secondary Evidence Rule

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